SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

		Х	
J. B. PARKER,		:	
	Appellant,	:	CASE NO: SC01-172
v.		:	
STATE OF FLORIDA,		:	
	Appellee.	:	
		х	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Martin County, Florida.

David M. Lamos Attorney at Law 805 Delaware Ave Florida Bar No. 747386 Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 (561) 464-4054 Attorney for J.B. Parker

Of Counsel: Francis D. Landrey

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In 1998 this Court affirmed the vacature of appellant J.B. Parker's sentence of death for the 1982 robbery, kidnaping and murder of a convenience store clerk. State v. Parker, 721 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 1998) ("Parker V"). In so ruling this Court determined that Parker's original death sentence had been obtained in violation of his constitutional rights based on the State's wrongful suppression of material exculpatory evidence. As a result of that ruling, a new sentencing hearing was held in October 2000. Based on the jury recommendation that a death sentence be imposed, the trial court, on December 13, 2000, entered its order again sentencing Parker to death. R7-1328-36.¹ This appeal followed.

As demonstrated below, Parker's death sentence should again be vacated based on the substantial prejudicial errors and constitutional violations that occurred in the proceedings in the court below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior Proceedings

In 1982 Parker was charged with the robbery, kidnaping and murder of Frances Julia Slater. Prior to his January 1983 trial on these charges, Parker moved for a change of venue. His motion was granted and the case was transferred from the 19th Judicial Circuit to the 5th Judicial Circuit. Parker was not alone in the commission of these

¹ Record citations are to the volume and page of the record as follows: "R7-1328-36" refers to volume seven of the record at pages 1328 to 1336.

crimes. Three others – John Earl Bush, Alphonso Cave and Terry Wayne Johnson – were also convicted at separate trials of each of these crimes. Bush and Cave were also sentenced to death. Johnson received a life sentence without eligibility for parole for 25 years. In 1995 Bush was executed. Cave remains on death row. None of Parker's co-defendants testified at Parker's 1983 trial.

Following this Court's affirmance of Parker's 1983 conviction and sentence, Parker v. State, 476 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1985) ("Parker I"), Parker filed motions for postconviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, which were denied, and petitions for writs of habeas corpus with this Court. This Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the 3.850 motions and denied the habeas petitions. Parker v. State, 542 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1989) ("Parker II"); Parker v. State, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989) ("Parker III").

Parker then filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in federal district court, which was denied. On appeal, the United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of Parker's habeas petition but in so doing determined that the first of Parker's two statements to law enforcement officers, which implicated him in these crimes, was inadmissible. Parker v. Singletary, 974 F.2d 1562 (11th Cir. 1992) ("Parker IV"). The Eleventh Circuit, however, affirmed the denial of the habeas corpus petition because it found the error to be harmless.

The current phase of these proceedings has its origin in the 1993 resentencing proceeding of Parker's co-defendant, Alphonso Cave. During the Cave resentencing the State relied upon the testimony of Michael Bryant to support its claim that Cave, not Parker, was the shooter. Based on Bryant's testimony that Cave acknowledged his role as the person who shot Ms. Slater, the State argued to the Cave jury at the 1993 resentencing that it had established beyond a reasonable doubt that Cave was the shooter. See Parker V, 721 So. 2d at 1151.

Based on the discovery of Bryant's 1993 testimony at Cave's resentencing proceeding, Parker filed a new rule 3.850 motion alleging that he had discovered material exculpatory information that would have changed, within a reasonable probability, the outcome of his trial. In the eleven years between Parker's original trial and his 1994 3.850 motion Parker's original defense attorney -- Mr. Robert Makemson – had been appointed to the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit. Parker's post conviction counsel listed Judge Makemson as a witness to establish his post conviction claims. In response to this listing, and to avoid having one member of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit assess the credibility of a fellow member of the Court, the late Chief Judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Hon. L.B. Vocelle, requested that this Court appoint an out of Circuit Judge to hear Parker's 3.850 motion. This Court agreed and appointed Hon. S. Joseph Davis to hear Parker's motion. See R5-884-911.

Judge Davis held an evidentiary hearing on the issues. After the hearing the trial court granted Parker a new penalty phase proceeding. The current resentencing was held upon this Court's affirmance of Judge Davis's order. See Parker V.

Pretrial Proceedings in the Court Below

Prior to trial, Parked filed a number of motions, see, e.g., R1-126-86, R2-187-367, R3-368-559, including a motion to suppress a statement Parked made on May 7, 1982. R3-368-553. In anticipation of an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress, Parker listed Judge Makemson and another sitting Circuit Court Judge as witnesses. After Judge Schack learned of Parker's intention to call Judge Makemson as a witness, he disclosed his close personal friendship with Judge Makemson. Upon request of Parker's counsel based on this disclosure, Judge Schack disqualified himself from the case. R4-625-26, 645-46, 671-72.

After Judge Schack's disqualification, 19th Circuit Chief Judge Paul B. Kanarek, was appointed as a successor judge to hear the case. In November, 1999 Parker moved to disqualify Judge Kanarek. That motion was supported by Parker's affidavit and earlier letters from Judges Kanarek and Vocelle noting that, in connection with prior proceedings, in light of Judge Makemson's involvement as a witness for Parker, Judges Kanarek and Vocelle did not believe that any Nineteenth Circuit Judge could preside over Parker's case. R5-884-911. Judge Kanarek agreed and disqualified himself from presiding at Parker's trial.

After determining that Parker's motion to disqualify was legally sufficient Judge Kanarek subsequently held a meeting with other judges of the 19th Judicial Circuit and "polled" or "screened" the other sitting judges in the 19th Judicial Circuit to determine who would be willing to sit on the case. R5-884-911, R16-210. Judge Dwight L. Geiger, who had previously heard and denied one of Parker's earlier 3.850 motions² stated that he would be willing to hear the case. Judge Kanarek wrote to this to this court requesting Judge Geiger's appointment to hear Parker's resentencing. The request was granted. Defense counsel's motion to disqualify Judge Geiger was denied. R5-884-911, 922.

Prior to resentencing Parker noticed for hearing several pretrial motions including the motion to suppress his May 7 statement. The State filed a motion to quash defendant's motion to suppress based on the claim that Parker had previously litigated and lost the suppression issue at his original trial. R3-560-74, R17-240-85. The court

² Parker II. In that proceeding, Judge Geiger presided over an evidentiary hearing at which he heard evidence tending to incriminate Parker that was not and could not have been admitted into evidence at the October 2000 resentencing proceeding at which he was called upon to make the ultimate sentencing determination.

granted the States' motion to quash and thereby denied Parker's request for a hearing on his suppression motion and refused to address the motion on the merits. R5-937-38. Trial Proceedings in the Court Below

Jury Selection for the resentencing commenced on Monday, October 15, 2000. Two panels of potential jurors were ultimately assembled over three days for the jury selection process. When speaking to the first panel of prospective jurors and outside the hearing of the second panel, the trial court erroneously informed the panel that Parker had been "convicted of the unlawful and premeditated death of a human being by killing and murdering Frances Julia Slater, a human being, on or about April 27, 1982, in Martin County, Florida." R19-436-37. The trial court made this comment despite the fact that no such verdict had been entered at the original trial and that Parker had made plain in the pretrial motions that the jury should be told only that Parker had been convicted of first degree murder without further elaboration. See R2-355-57. The trial denied Parker's motions for mistrial, and to strike the panel, or, in the alternative, for a curative instruction. R19-435-440. The trial court also rejected Parker's proposed jury instruction designed to correct the Court's misstatement. R33-2603-10.

The trial court's misstatement that Parker had been found guilty of the premeditated killing of Ms. Slater was never corrected. Although subsequent venire panels, R21-688-90, 709-11, and ultimately the whole jury were told simply that Parker had

been convicted of first degree murder, R25-1429-30, that instruction did not correct the earlier affirmative misstatement. Eight of the twelve jurors who ultimately served on Parker's jury, and who made the sentencing recommendation, R24-1398-99, were drawn from the first panel. See R21-687, R22-1000-22, R23-1025-40.

During its deliberations, the jury asked that testimony bearing directly on the disputed issues surrounding the extent and nature of Parker's participation be re-read. R7-1431. The jury also asked who had stated: "I couldn't stand her moaning – so I shot her." R7-1430. This question plainly refers to the Bryant testimony concerning Cave's confession to shooting Ms. Slater and further evidences the critical importance in the jury's eyes of the conflicting evidence regarding Parker's involvement. The trial court declined to provide the jury any guidance on these issues and instead instructed the jury that it must rely on its recollection. R34-2858-59. The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven (11) to one (1). R34-2861. The trial court imposed the death penalty. R7-1328-36.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State introduced evidence concerning the facts of the crimes and the nature and extent of Parker's alleged participation in the crime. Although many facts concerning the crimes are uncontested, the nature and extent of Parker's knowledge and participation in these events is very much in dispute. Parker contested the State's evidence through which it attempted to portray Parker as an active participant, and demonstrated that, in contradiction of the State's witnesses at this trial, the State previously relied upon the testimony of a witness, who the State acknowledged was credible, to prove that codefendant Cave admitted to shooting Ms. Slater. Parker also submitted substantial, unrebutted evidence in mitigation that, although largely accepted by the trial court as proved, without explanation, was given little or no weight in the sentencing determination. R7-1328-36.

Background Facts of the Crimes

The State established that at around 3:00 A.M. on April 27th, 1982 a Li'l General Convenience store was found open but empty. R25-1560-64. The store manager confirmed that \$134.00 was missing. R26-1600-04. Later, on the afternoon of April 27, 1982, Ms. Slater's body was found some thirteen miles from the convenience store. R26-1611. The State introduced numerous photographs to illustrate the location and area where the body was found and the body position. R26-1606-36.

The State called Dr. Ronald Wright, M.D., who had examined Ms. Slater's body, as an expert in forensic pathology. R26-1693. Dr. Wright found two wounds — a stab wound to the abdomen and a gunshot wound to the back of the head. R26-1695-96. He opined that the stab wound occurred while the decedent was alive, but that it was not an incapacitating wound. R26-1695-1699, 1713. With respect to the gunshot wound, Dr. Wright testified that the decedent was shot in the head from a range beyond three feet and

that the gun shot wound resulted in instantaneous brain death. R26-1704-09. According to Dr. Wright, the characteristics of the bullet wound were consistent with Ms. Slater first being stabbed and falling to her knees and someone then coming behind her and pointing the gun downward while shooting her in the back of her head. R26-1714.

Dr. Wright testified that although the stab wound was a painful wound, Ms. Slater may have suffered virtually no real pain based upon the sequence of events and that it was equally consistent with the facts that the gunshot and stab wound were nearly coincidental. He noted that while one could envision a scenario of physical pain lasting some period of time that it was also true that the scenario could have been virtually instantaneous. He stated that both scenarios are equally consistent with the physical evidence in the case. R26-1718.

Dr. Wright also testified that decedent's clothing was stained with urine. R26-1694-1695. Dr. Wright opined that the decedent voided her bladder while alive. R26-1709. He noted that a voiding of the bladder could have resulted from fear or an abdominal spasm upon being stabbed and that both theories were equally consistent with the evidence. R26-1710, 1717.

The State called Daniel Nippes, who the trial court considered to be qualified to testify in the area of hair and fiber comparison. He testified to the presence of carpet fibers and to an individual hair follicle found inside Bush's car. R27-1872-83. The carpet fibers

matched those found on Ms. Slater's clothing. R27-1876-77. When Nippes was questioned concerning the presence of a "bulbous root" on the individual hair follicle found in Bush's car, the defense objected on the grounds that whether hair was forcibly removed from someone's head was beyond the witness's area of expertise. The trial court overruled the objection. R28-1890-91. Nippes, in response to further questioning, over defense counsel's objection, characterized the hair follicle as being "prematurely" removed from the scalp. R28-1891-92.

The Conflicting Evidence Concerning the Nature and Extent of Parker's Involvement

As the summary of the trial testimony concerning the actions allegedly taken by Parker and his co-defendants set forth in this section shows, the evidence establishes Parker's presence with Bush, Cave and Johnson in Bush's car on the night of April 26 and early morning hours of April 27. Parker's role in the crimes, and whether it was sufficient to justify imposition of a death sentence, particularly in light of the substantial evidence in mitigation, was very much in dispute. In particular, Parker contended in the trial court and contends here that he took no active part in the robbery, kidnaping or murder and that the error of which he complains on this appeal prejudiced his ability to persuade the jury and trial judge on these points. The trial witnesses and a summary of their testimony concerning these issues follows. <u>Marilyn McDevitt</u> – Ms. McDevitt was present in the Li'l General store between 11:00 pm and 1:00 am on April 26-27, 1982 and testified that she saw Parker come into the store and leave between 12:00-12:30 A.M., more than an hour before the robbery. R25-1524-26. During her testimony the prosecutor asked: "By the way, did you testify to this many times over the years in particular back around the time the crime was committed? Did you describe his hair and his height and so forth?" R25-1527. The court overruled defense counsel's objection that the State was improperly bolstering the witness. R25-1527.

Danielle Girouard – Ms. Girouard testified that at 2:30 A.M. on April 27th, 1982, while stopped at a traffic light some distance from the store, she saw three black men in the store and one black man in a car outside the store. She specifically identified John Earl Bush but was unable to identify Parker as one of the three men in the store. R25-1541-56. Another witness, Johnny Johnson, a Detective Sergeant with the Stuart Police Department, testified that when he drove by the convenience store at around 2:30 am on the morning of April 27, 1982, he saw two people plus the clerk in the store. R30-2276-78.

<u>Timothy Bargo</u> – Officer Bargo testified that he stopped the defendants who were in Bush's car at around 4:00 A.M. He testified that an individual who identified himself as "Mike Goodman" and who gave a birth date that is the same as Parker's was in the front seat with Bush. R26-1660-61. Officer Bargo when confronted with his prior deposition testimony stated he had never been able to identify the occupants other than Bush. R26-1659-61. On redirect the state sought to rehabilitate the witness with unidentified voices noted in the deposition transcripts. The defense objected noting that any unidentified statements were inadmissible hearsay. The trial court overruled the objections. R26-1681-86.

Georgeanne Williams – At the time of the commission of the crimes, Williams was the girlfriend of co-defendant John Earl Bush. The state called Williams to testify concerning a statement Parker allegedly made to her when she was visiting the jail after Bush and Parker had been arrested. According to Williams, on one visit, after talking to Bush, she talked to Parker. R27-1759. She testified that Parker told her "that John stabbed her and he shot her." R27-1760. The State, acknowledging that it was precluded from doing so, did not elicit any testimony concerning any statements Bush had made to Williams. R27-1759.

On cross-examination Williams admitted: 1) her relationship with Bush was very close – he had asked her to marry him and she was considering that offer at the time of the crimes, R27-1765-67; 2) she had been convicted for felonies and crimes involving dishonesty and false statements, R27-1779-97; and 3) she had used false names in connection with several arrests. R27-1774-78. In addition, Williams admitted that in 1996

she had written letters to members of the State Attorney's office involved in the initial trials in which she stated:

If you really want to know the whole truth of the matter, I don't know who shot or who stabbed who, I don't know if John Earl told me events at his house before he turned himself in or at the jail when I went to visit him. I do know I was young, scared and most of all very stupid for repeating what, if anything, I heard.

R27-1803-04. In another 1996 letter to the State Attorney's office, Williams solicited assistance with her pending criminal difficulties concluding with the request that the State "do something" for her. R27-1818-19. Williams's letters plainly reflect that her claim that Parker admitted to being the shooter in fact was not true and that Williams wanted assistance with her troubles with the law in return for her continued cooperation.

Arthur Jackson – The State called Lieutenant Jackson to testify concerning the location of the co-defendants within the Martin County Jail while awaiting trial. Lieutenant Jackson testified that in 1982 he was the Assistant Director for Corrections at the Martin County Sheriff's Office. He gave testimony regarding the locations of the cells where Cave, Bush, and Parker were housed in the facility. His testimony purported to shed light on Williams's opportunity to speak to Parker. R27-1834-46. On cross examination, jail records were admitted and the questioning of Lieutenant Jackson showed that Parker's mother, Elmira, had visited with him at the time when Williams claimed Parker had admitted

to shooting the decedent thus casting further doubt on the veracity of her claims. R27-1846-71.

<u>Terry Wayne Johnson</u> – Parker's co-defendant Johnson, although he had testified before the grand jury, had not been called as a witness to testify at any of his codefendants' original trials in 1982 and 1983. Johnson also was convicted of robbery, kidnaping and first-degree murder for his involvement in this case and is currently serving a life sentence with eligibility for parole after 25 years. In return for his cooperation and willingness to testify against Parker, the State agreed to make known his cooperation to the parole commission. R28-1900-03. Johnson is eligible for parole in 2007.

Johnson testified that he was in the car with Bush, Cave and Parker throughout the night of April 26, 1982 and early morning of April 27, 1982. Earlier in the evening they bought a two-liter bottle of gin and spent several hours at two different bars. R28-1909-10. According to Johnson, when they made their first visit to the convenience store, all four men went in. They bought some potato chips. R28-1913.

Johnson testified that on the second visit to the convenience store, Cave, Bush, and Parker went into the store, while Johnson remained in the car. At that time Cave had a gun but Johnson did not remember someone handing Cave the gun. R28-1916. Johnson was asked to review his prior grand jury testimony and whether it refreshed his memory. In response to the question he stated "it says [Parker] handed the gun". R28-1917. The prosecutor then asked: "[Parker] handed Cave the gun at that point before going into the store. When did that happen?" Johnson did not respond. R28-1917.³ Johnson then testified that Cave brought Ms. Slater out of the store, that Cave had the gun, and that Bush and Parker followed him. R28-1918.

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