SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-172

J.B.PARKER,

Appellant,

- versus -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MELANIE ANN DALE
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0168556
1515 N. Flagler Drive
Suite 900
West Palm Beach, Fl 33401

Counsel for Appellee

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

Furthermore, Appellant has made a conclusory claim that

mitigation was not presented without these affidavits, yet he fails to detail what mitigation was not presented. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla.1990) (merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived).

Hence, it is clear that there has been no abuse of discretion and the death sentence should be affirmed.

C. Testimony of Richard Barlow

Appellant first claims that the trial court improperly limited Barlow's testimony, excluding evidence that would have established the basis for his conclusions and countered the state's claim that reliance on Michael Bryant's testimony at Cave's 1993 re-sentencing was a mistake. Appellant claims that statements made by Michael Bryant to Richard Barlow were not hearsay because they were not being presented for the truth of the matter asserted but rather to show that the statements made to Barlow were consistent with prior statements that Bryant had made.

First, any claim that the substance of what Michael Bryant told Barlow would establish the basis for Barlow's conclusions regarding the 1993 re-sentencing of Cave was not raised below and is not preserved. In order to be preserved for appellate

review, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of the presentation if it is to be considered preserved. See <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985)("In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of the presentation if it is to be considered preserved."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)([I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception or motion below."); §924.051 Fla. Stat.(Supp. 1996)("An appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved..."). contends that this court cannot address the merits of Appellant's argument because the issue is not properly before this court.

Second, appellant's claim that Bryant's testimony was not hearsay is meritless. It is clear that appellant was attempting to bolster the credibility of Michael Bryant by introducing prior consistent statements. The trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence, and a ruling on admissibility will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of

discretion. Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1029 (Fla. 1981); Huhn v. State, 511 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). The abuse of discretion standard is one of the most difficult for an Appellant to satisfy. Ford v. Ford, 700 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

Furthermore, it is well established that prior consistent statements are generally not admissible to bolster a witness's testimony at trial. See Bradley v. State, 787 So.2d 732 (Fla. 2001); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 197 (Fla.1997). In order to be admissible, prior consistent statements, like any

other hearsay statements, must qualify under a hearsay exception. Id.

In this case, the record reflects that Barlow was called as a witness by Parker. Barlow testified that to prove that Cave was the triggerman at Cave's 1993 resentencing, he relied on Michael Bryant's testimony (T. Vol. 29 p. 2048). Barlow stated that he had found a report written by Art Jackson that showed that Michael Bryant had told Jackson that he overheard a conversation between Cave and Bush where Cave admitted being the shooter (T. Vol. 29 p. 2051). Barlow testified that he had no reason to believe that Bryant was not credible (T. Vol. 29 pp. 2054-2055). Whereupon the following testimony occurred:

Mr. Lamos: what did Bryant tell you he had heard.

Mr. Barlow: Bryant told me-

Mr. Mirman: Judge I'm going to object to the hearsay at this time. We're going to read Mr. Bryant's testimony. I believe that will cover this issue. And I ask if we read Mr. Bryant's testimony I be able to cross examine this witness first before we go into that to avoid confusion on that issue.

The Court: Well, at this time the objection is sustained. We can take this further out of the presence of the jury.

Mr. Lamos: May I just-it won't take but a second if we can do it sidebar and your honor might consider otherwise. Your Honor, we are-for Your Honor to understand-I assume

the prosecutor's objection is that this is hearsay?

Mr. Mirman; Yes.

Mr. Lamos: This is not being offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, this offered being to prove that statements made at trial and the statements made to Mr. Barlow are consistent. not being offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted but that they are statements and identical forms so that he could assess the credibility of Bryant. So we're not offering to prove the truth of what they We're offering to show that they assert. are consistent with other statements that were admitted by Bryant.

The Court: Is the State going to concede the objection?

Mr. Colton: No.

Mr. Mirman: No.

The Court: I'm going to stand on the earlier ruling. And this is based upon-primarily based upon reading the statute as far as opportunity to rebut and also because the actual statement itself, the trial testimony is going to be placed before the Jury.

Mr. Lamos: Okay. Just so we don't have to come back up here, at this point in time I would proffer into the record that Mr. Barlow would testify that Bryant told him that Cave was the actual Shooter and that it is being offered to prove it was consistent with what Bryant also told Art Jackson. That is the basis for our objection.

The Court: Thank you. Same Ruling.

(emphasis added)(T. Vol. 29 pp. 2055-2058).

In this case, Appellant was attempting to bolster Bryant's testimony with prior consistent statements. Hence, it is clear from the record that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it sustained the state's hearsay objection as the record reflects that Appellant was merely trying to introduce prior consistent statements, to which no hearsay exception applied.

Moreover, any error is harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." Id.

The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence.

Id.

In this case, any testimony by Barlow regarding what Bryant told him was cumulative to Bryant's testimony, which was read to the jury. Specifically, Bryant testified that he heard Bush and

Cave talking about the murder and he heard Bush say that Cave shot Francis in the back of the head (T. Vol. 29 p. 2133). Bryant also testified that the morning after he overheard the conversation Cave told him not to tell anybody and then beat him up (T. Vol. 30 p. 2134). Moreover, Barlow testified that he relied on Bryant's statements and he believed that Bryant was credible (T. Vol. 29 pp. 2054-2055). Hence, at best, the testimony is cumulative to Michael Bryant's testimony. There is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict.

Thirdly, Appellant's claim that the trial court should have allowed Barlow to testify about his consideration of the Bryant testimony in conjunction with the medical examiner evidence is meritless. At trial, Appellant sought to introduce the actual thought processes of Barlow to rebut the state's contention that the use of the Bryant testimony at Cave's 1993 re-sentencing was a mistake. However, the trial court found that while it was proper for Appellant to argue that the state had previously taken inconsistent positions with respect to co-defendants, Appellant could not introduce evidence of the professional thought process of Barlow(T. Vol. 29 p. 2074). Again, Appellant was attempting to bolster Bryant's credibility by asking Barlow if he had considered the medical examiner's testimony in assessing Bryant's testimony. The trial court had previously ruled that Bryant's credibility was not an issue.

Hence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding testimony intended to bolster the credibility of Bryant. The death sentence should be affirmed.

POINT III

THE PROSECUTORS MISTAKEN INTRODUCTION OF BUSH'S INADMISSIBLE STATEMENT WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT. (RESTATED)

Parker claims that his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him was violated when the prosecutor improperly argued that Bush had told Georgeanne Williams that he stabbed the victim and Parker shot her. Parker also argues that the curative instruction was inadequate to remedy the Sixth Amendment violation.

Contrary to Parker's claim, his right to confrontation was not violated. In this case, the state did not present any evidence of statements that Bush made implicating Parker as the shooter. Moreover, any error was harmless because the prosecutor corrected his misstatement. However, should this court find that the prosecutor's misstatement violated Parker's right to confrontation, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In this case, Parker asked for a mistrial below. A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse

of discretion standard of review. Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999) (explaining that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion); Hamilton v. State, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion); United States v. Puentes, 50 F.3d 1567, 1577 (11th Cir. 1995) (stating that a district court's ruling on a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion); United States. v. Honer, 225 F.3d 549, 555 (5th Cir. 2000) (reviewing the denial of a motion for mistrial for abuse of discretion).

Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). The abuse of discretion standard is one of the most difficult for an appellant to satisfy. Ford v. Ford, 700 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or

unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

In this case, the record reveals that the prosecutor, during closing argument, inadvertently misstated the testimony of Georgeanne Williams (T. Vol. 33 2688-2689). The prosecutor agreed that Georgeanne Williams did not testify that Bush told her that Parker shot Francis Slater (T. Vol. 33 p. 2708). Moreover, the prosecutor told the court that if he did say that, then he inadvertently misspoke (T. Vol. 33 p. 2708). The trial court denied Appellant's motion for mistrial and allowed the state to correct any misstatements of the facts. The prosecutor stated the following:

Ladies and Gentlemen, what Counsel brought to the attention of the Judge is that at some time during my argument, that apparently he picked up that I said that Georgeanne Williams testified that John Earl Bush told her that Parker did the shooting. That's not evidence in this case. not evidence at all. I don't recall saying that, but I don't doubt it if that's what he That is not evidence and said that I did. something you should consider because that wasn't said. Our contention is it was Parker who admitted Georgeanne Williams that he did the shooting. She did talk to Bush and then she

went to Parker because she wanted to know from Parker what had happened and Parker told her that he shot Frannie Slater, John Earl Bush stabbed her. If I said anything other than that I didn't intend to and certainly wouldn't want you to consider what's not evidence in this case. So let's move on.

(Emphasis added)(T. Vol. 34 pp. 2714-2714).

Hence, it is clear from the record that the prosecutor did not intend to mislead the jury. In the instant case, the record reflects that Georgeanne Williams did not testify about the content of her conversations with Bush. There was no evidence before the jury that Bush stated that Parker was the shooter. This issue centers on a misstatement by the prosecutor during closing arguments, it is not a case where the state sought to introduce Bush's statements to Williams. Therefore, Parkers Sixth Amendment right to confrontation was not violated because the state never presented any evidence that Bush had made statements implicating Parker. Moreover, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the error was cured when the prosecutor told the jury that Bush's statements were not evidence and the jury was told not to consider it as such.

Furthermore, Appellant cites to <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), arguing that cautionary instructions cannot be relied upon to cure a deprivation of the right to confrontation

(I.B. 57). However, a mere finding of a violation of the Bruton rule against admission of co-defendant's confession in the course of a trial does not automatically require reversal of ensuing criminal conviction. Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427 (1972). Reversal will not be required where properly admitted evidence of guilt is so overwhelming and the prejudicial effects $\circ f$ the co-defendant's admission is so insignificant comparison that it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that improper use of the co-defendant's admission was harmless error. Id. In determining whether improper admission of a codefendant's confession was prejudicial error a determination must be made of the probable impact of the confession on the minds of an average jury. Id. at 1060. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." Id.

Should this court find that Parker's right to confrontation was violated, any error with respect to the prosecutor's misstatement regarding the facts was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The record reflects that Georgeanne Williams testified that Parker told her that he shot Francis Slater. Williams testified that on May 8, 1982 she went to visit Bush in

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